CHAPTER 5

Biomass Supply and Trade Opportunities of Preprocessed Biomass for Power Generation

B. Batidzirai¹, M. Junginger², M. Klemm³, F. Schipfer⁴ and D. Thrän^{3, 5}

¹Energy Research Centre, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa

²Copernicus Institute, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands

³German Biomass Research Center (DBFZ), Leipzig, Germany

⁴EEG,Vienna University of Technology, Vienna, Austria

⁵Department of Bioenergy, Helmholtz Center for Environmental Research (UFZ), Leipzig, Germany

Contents

5.1	Introduction	92
	5.1.1 Biomass Supply and Demand Centers	92
5.2	International Trade and Supply Opportunities of Processed Stable Biomass	
	Intermediates for Biopower Market	95
	5.2.1 Development of Biopower Markets	95
	5.2.2 The Importance of Preprocessing	96
	5.2.3 Location of Final Conversion Facility	98
	5.2.4 Energy Crop-Based Supply Chains: Mozambique Case Study	99
5.3	Local/Regional Trade and Supply Opportunities of Raw Biomass for	
	Bioenergy Market	104
	5.3.1 Agricultural Residues-Based Supply Chains: South Africa Case Study	106
5.4	Conclusions	108
References		110

Abstract

International trade of solid biomass is expected to increase significantly given the global distribution of biomass resources and anticipated expansion of bioenergy deployment in key global power markets. Given the unique characteristics of biomass, its long-distance trade requires optimized logistics to facilitate competitive delivery value chains. Preprocessing biomass via pelletizing, torrefaction, and hydro-thermal carbonization potentially improves bioenergy supply economics as illustrated by two case studies in this chapter. The case studies presented in this chapter compare woody and herbaceous biomass value chains and demonstrate that it is feasible and desirable in current conditions to establish large-scale conversion plants close to mature electricity markets and source preprocessed biomass from the international market. In the short term, conventional pellets are expected to play an important role as the internationally traded solid biomass commodity and feedstock in biopower

production. In the near future, torrefied pellets may become the dominant and preferred internationally traded solid biomass commodity as the technology is commercialized. Hydrothermal carbonization technology is also still under development, but has the potential to unlock additional feedstock from wet biomass streams. Successful deployment of these technologies is expected to improve bioenergy supply chains in terms of costs and greenhouse gas impacts. Local bioenergy markets are also expected to develop, and provide localized opportunities for local biomass production and use. Utilization of herbaceous biomass and agricultural residues for power production is a promising option, but its application in cofiring is yet to be proven on a wide commercial scale. The analysis of agricultural residue mobilization in South Africa demonstrates that preprocessing also plays a major role in improving biomass delivery costs and subsequent electricity generation costs in local markets.

5.1 INTRODUCTION

Global demand and trade of solid biomass have been growing rapidly over the past decade, especially in the power and heat sectors (Lamers et al., 2012; Sikkema et al., 2011; Cocchi et al., 2012). This demand is driven mainly by renewable energy targets and incentives (Goh et al., 2012; Lamers et al., 2012), as well as energy security and environmental objectives (Chum et al., 2011; Beekes and Cremers, 2012; Tarcon, 2011). It is anticipated that bioenergy use will grow considerably in the near future. The International Energy Agency (IEA) estimates that biomass will contribute about 71.5 EJ to total global energy supply (under a Current Policies Scenario) by 2035 (OECD/IEA, 2011) and biomass power contribution is expected to increase to about 18% by 2050 (under the Blue Map scenario) (OECD/IEA, 2010). European Commission assessments (EC, 2014a) also project further increases in biomass use in the heat and power sector as the European Union (EU) implements a transition to a low-carbon economy by 2050. Biomass-based electricity is expected to grow to between 336 and 520TWh by 2050 with installed capacities of between 39 and 66 GW in the same period in the EU alone (EC, 2014b).

5.1.1 Biomass Supply and Demand Centers

Key biomass power markets are currently centered around and likely to remain in Europe, North America, and East Asia as shown in Fig. 5.1. However, apart from North America, these regions have limited available biomass resources to meet current and projected future biomass demand. Major global biomass production regions are located in North America, Russia, Scandinavia, South America, and parts of Africa and Asia



- Biomass demand regions (EU-28)
- ★ Extra-EU supply/demand node (port)

Figure 5.1 Global distribution of key solid biomass demand (solid, circle harbors) and supply regions (shaded, starred harbors) with respective harbors. *From Lamers, P., Hoefnagels, R., Junginger, M., Hamelinck, C., Faaij, A., 2015. Global solid biomass trade for energy by 2020: an assessment of potential import streams and supply costs to North-West Europe under different sustainability constraints. GCB Bioenerg. 7 (4), 618–634.*

(Goh et al., 2012; Smeets et al., 2007). Generally, countries with large biomass resource potentials have vast territories, and therefore the resources are often dispersed in a large territory and difficult to access, such as Russia and Canada.

Given the global spatial distribution of biomass and anticipated future expansion of bioenergy deployment in key global markets, substantial increases in international bioenergy trade are inevitable (Matzenberger et al., 2015). This transition to the large-scale commodification of solid biomass started a decade ago (Chum et al., 2011) and is still growing rapidly (Lamers et al., 2014). Already a burgeoning international solid biomass trade is evident, 18 Mt of solid biomass were traded in 2010 up from 3.5 Mt in 2000 (of which wood pellets trade increased from 0.5 to 6.6 Mt over the same period) (Lamers et al., 2012; Tustin, 2012). This large-scale international biomass trade is mainly linked to economic drivers and regional biomass availability (Faaij and Domac, 2006). The growth in biomass trade will assist to develop and maintain international bioenergy markets as well as develop currently underutilized bioenergy potentials in many regions of the world (Faaij et al., 2014).

To meet the growing global biomass demand and to mobilize these large-scale biomass supplies, large volumes of biomass feedstock need to be secured, and competitive feedstock value chains need to be developed and optimized, based on identification of appropriate combinations of feedstock and preprocessing technologies (Batidzirai et al., 2013).

There are two main types of solid biomass feedstocks of interest for international traded solid biomass-woody and herbaceous biomass. These two biomass types have distinct differences in their characteristics and value chains, which ultimately impact the competitiveness of delivered biomass (Batidzirai et al., 2014). Herbaceous biomass includes grasses such as switchgrass and miscanthus as well as agricultural residues such as wheat straw and corn stover. Its markets are much less mature and its international trade is currently limited due to various challenges associated with the large-scale logistics and conversion into energy or products. Compared to woody biomass, the lower heating value and lower bulk density of herbaceous biomass bales (100-140 kgm⁻³) and corresponding pellets, result in much higher transportation costs per unit delivered energy than for woody biomass. Also, the higher sulfur and chlorine content can lead to fouling of equipment and require changes in process design; this increases conversion costs. Herbaceous biomass is also problematic as it ignites easily, posing storage difficulties. There is also limited experience in

preprocessing herbaceous biomass. However, herbaceous biomass sourcing costs are typically lower than woody biomass (Batidzirai et al., 2013, 2014). It is therefore important to evaluate the implications of international supply of these two types of biomass feedstocks. Whereas woody biomass pellets are already mature and a "flowable commodity" in the power and heat market, there are uncertainties around the competitive supply of preprocessed herbaceous biomass.

This chapter assesses the opportunities for regional and international biomass supply and trade of preprocessed biomass primarily for power generation purposes. Based on two case studies, the chapter compares the performance of various biomass supply chain configurations, based on different preprocessing technologies, types of biomass feedstocks, and biopower markets.

5.2 INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND SUPPLY OPPORTUNITIES OF PROCESSED STABLE BIOMASS INTERMEDIATES FOR BIOPOWER MARKET

5.2.1 Development of Biopower Markets

As the major biomass market, solid biomass in the EU is mainly used for heating (~85%) and electricity generation (~15%). Over 90% of this biomass is domestically produced in the EU and is used mainly for household and other small-scale heating applications (EC, 2014b). The large-scale solid biomass requirements (such as for cofiring) are increasingly imported from outside the EU. There is a significant market for cofiring preprocessed biomass (predominantly woody biomass) with coal in power generation, especially in northern and western European countries. These markets are driven mainly by the availability of feed-in premiums or quotas for green electricity, and other government policies. The key biomass feedstock has been industrial wood pellets imported mainly from Canada, the United States, and Russia (Goh et al., 2012). Intra-EU solid biomass trade, for example, from the Baltic states to Sweden and Denmark or from Austria to Italy contributed about two-thirds of cross-border trade by 2010 (Lamers et al., 2012). Prospects for market growth in biomass cofiring power generation are positive, and over the past decade, there has been an increase in pellet demand for cofiring in Belgium, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, and Denmark, mainly driven by government policies. Significant growth is projected in solid biomass-based cofiring in

the EU, more than doubling from about 74TWh in 2012 to 157TWh in 2020. According to EC (2014b), wood pellet imports to the EU are set to increase from 4.3 million t^1 in 2013 to 15–30 million t by 2020 to meet the expected demand for large-scale cofiring and combined heat and power (CHP) applications. Thus the EU is likely to remain the key driver of solid biomass trade specifically targeting the power sector.

East Asia, particularly Japan and South Korea, have also set renewable energy targets, which have stimulated cofiring of wood pellets in large coal power plants. Both countries are expected to experience strong growth in consumption in the next few years (Goh et al., 2012).

5.2.2 The Importance of Preprocessing

International trade of biomass over long distances is costly and can render biomass uncompetitive (Rentizelas et al., 2009; Hamelinck et al., 2005). This is because biomass has unique characteristics that necessitate preprocessing before it can be efficiently stored, transported, or used in various applications currently designed for fossil fuels (Tumuluru et al., 2012). Biomass is often available seasonally in small quantities scattered over many locations (Junginger et al., 2001; Deng et al., 2009). It is highly heterogeneous, which results in wide variations in combustion properties (Tapasvi et al., 2012). It usually has a high moisture content and consequently low heating value (Ben and Ragauskas, 2012). It is hydrophilic and biodegradable, posing storage problems (Tumuluru et al., 2012). Its combustion efficiency is lower than fossil fuels (Crocker and Andrews, 2010), which decreases the capacity of given systems. Biomass therefore often needs to be pretreated to improve its characteristics and associated handling (Rentizelas et al., 2009; Luo, 2011). However, preprocessing costs are significant and can render biomass uneconomical (EverGreen, 2009).

Biomass preprocessing includes baling or bundling (for agricultural and forestry residues), sizing (into chips or flour, for example), drying, torrefying, and densification into conventional pellets (CPs), briquettes, or torrefied pellets (TOPs). Hydrothermal carbonization (HTC) is also another preprocessing technology especially suitable for conditioning wet biomass streams. Hence, an important logistical question is to identify combination(s) of preprocessing options which can best upgrade biomass properties for optimal downstream logistics.

¹1 metric tonne = 1000 kg = 1 Megagram (Mg).

5.2.2.1 Pelleting and Torrefaction

Pelleting biomass is currently the most important preprocessing approach for solid biomass, and wood pellets are currently the most important internationally traded biomass commodity (Lamers et al., 2012). The technology is mature and markets have developed in the power and heat sectors (Chum et al., 2011; Goh et al., 2012). Although it is yet to be proven on a commercial scale, torrefied pellets appear to have more advantages compared to CPs (Batidzirai et al., 2013). TOPs have a higher energy density (12–20 GJ_{LHV} m⁻³ compared to 7–10.4 GJ_{LHV} m⁻³ for conventional pellets) (Bagramov, 2010; Tumuluru et al., 2012; Kiel et al., 2012; Melin, 2011; Boyd et al., 2011) and this has potential to lower logistic costs.

Torrefaction (combined with pelletization) is a promising biomass preprocessing technology which has potential to produce a homogeneous biomass carrier with improved energy density and combustion characteristics, and whose properties closely match those of low-grade coal (Agar and Wihersaari, 2012; Li et al., 2012; Phanphanich and Mani, 2011). This would allow cofiring with higher percentages of biomass than is currently possible with conventional pellets (Beekes and Cremers, 2012; Meerman et al., 2012).

Given the global distribution of biomass production regions and key markets (Chum et al., 2011), preprocessing biomass plays an important role in improving biomass supply chain economics, and enables biomass to be delivered to the market cost-effectively with lower downstream investments (Uslu et al., 2008; Miao et al., 2012; Bergman, 2005). This would also allow access to remote biomass resources and improve the potential of biomass as a renewable energy resource.

5.2.2.2 Hydrothermal Carbonization

Hydrothermal carbonization (HTC) enables the conversion of especially wet biomasses into a solid fuel—so-called HTC coal (Sevilla, 2009; Libra et al., 2011; Dinjus et al., 2011; Funke and Ziegler, 2010). Beside biomass types with established applications in combustion or biogas production, there is potential for harnessing wet and hardly biodegradable biomass like food industry waste, municipal biowaste, digestates from biogas production processes, and sewage sludge (Escala et al., 2013). The utilization of these wet biomass resources is of major importance for the expansion of bio-energy feedstock base (Wilén et al., 2013; Statistisches Bundesamt, 2013). Other possibilities of thermo-chemical conversion of wet biomass are very limited because of the energy demand for drying. Because the reaction

medium is water, wet biomass does not need to be dried. During HTC, the biomass or waste is converted with water as reaction agent at 180–250°C and 10–40 bar. Currently, typical HTC process operational times are between 1.5 and 6 hours.

In comparison with the input wet biomass, there are improvements in major properties of HTC coal such as heating value, carbon content, volatile mater, homogeneity, and defined structure. A biomass quality close to lignite coal can be reached (Ramke et al., 2010; Kietzmann et al., 2013; Clemens et al., 2012; DBFZ, 2013). Different energy applications are possible, especially as a coal substitute (Tremel et al., 2012; Gunarathne et al., 2014). The dewatering of this coal can reach a high dry matter content and that is why energy demand for coal drying is low. In particular because of this, HTC can be the energy-efficient alternative in many cases.

Many different HTC plant concepts have been developed, mostly in Germany but also in other countries (Hitzl et al., 2014; Artec, 2015; AVA-CO2, 2015; CS CarbonsSolutions, 2015; SunCoal, 2015; TerraNova, 2015). These plants are for demonstration purposes (Klemm et al., 2015), and none is currently in commercial operation. Thus, the development of an HTC coal market is still in its early stages.

5.2.3 Location of Final Conversion Facility

The strategic location of the final biomass conversion plant (as well as preprocessing facilities) is an important consideration for the competitive utilization of biomass. Given the capital-intensive nature of conversion plants, effective use should be made of economies of scale and centralized/decentralized processing where appropriate. Typically, preprocessing can be cost-effectively achieved in decentralized small-scale operations where facilities are located near the plantation or source of biomass, which helps to reduce logistic capacity very early in the chain. However, there is a trade-off between the size of the preprocessing plant and raw biomass transportation costs, which are also affected by the availability and distribution of sufficient feedstock in the vicinity of the processing plant. Batidzirai et al. (2014) established that at current technology costs, the optimal plant size for pellet plants is around 250,000 t year⁻¹. However the trade-off between transport costs of biomass supply and unit scaling effects has to be calculated for every plant individually since multiple parameters can be decisive for this optimization. In Schipfer et al. (2015) the combination of feedstock yield, its availability, and accessibility are outlined to be critical as well as earlier inflexion points for CPs than for TOPs.

Where local economics are attractive, final conversion in the biomass production regions (early in the supply chain) can be beneficial and costeffective. However, establishing large-scale conversion facilities in major biomass feedstock production regions (typically in developing countries) involves significant technological and commercial risk, and capital costs may be higher (Batidzirai et al., 2014). According to IRENA (2012), financiers consider biomass power projects to be risky, as existing projects in developing countries have failed to meet expected performance. Economies of scale play an important role in driving down production costs and such large-scale conversion facilities are more suited for well-developed bioenergy markets where policy measures favor their establishment. For some regions, biobased power generation may not be competitive against established technologies such as hydro. An important consideration for locating the final conversion plants is the availability of well-developed infrastructure in the importing country, such as deep harbors with storage capacity to handle large volumes of biomass imports from different countries.

In the short to medium term, western Europe is likely to remain the main market for internationally traded solid biomass and ideal location for establishing biobased power generation facilities given the regional drive to increase the share of renewables to 20% by 2020 (EC, 2014b). To enable the transition to a low-carbon economy, significant investment in renewable energy electricity is inevitable. Given the projected contribution of biomass to future electricity mix in the EU, growth in solid biomass imports from the international market is a key strategy for many EU countries. Major utilities in the region, such as RWE-Essent, Vattenfall, Dong Energy, Drax, GDF Suez, and Eon, are already actively pursuing biomass cofiring strategies and importing millions of tonnes of solid biomass every year (Verhoest and Ryckmans, 2014). Stakeholder consultations in the EU have shown that trade is essential for reliability of supply of biomass and offer flexibility as sourcing biomass from different regions reduces the feedstock supply risks (EC, 2014b). The case studies presented below demonstrate that it is feasible and desirable at current conditions to establish final conversion plants close to the electricity market and source biomass feedstock from the international market.

5.2.4 Energy Crop-Based Supply Chains: Mozambique Case Study

To demonstrate the competitiveness of international supply of preprocessed biomass for cofiring in the power sector, we present a case study that compares the supply of conventional pellets (CPs) and torrefied pellets (TOPs) from southeast Africa and subsequently use in cofired power plants in western Europe, taking Rotterdam as a location of the final conversion facility. First, we compare the economic performance of TOPs and CPs based on different feedstocks (eucalyptus and switchgrass). Second, the study evaluates the impact of supplying biomass from different regions (productive and marginal land quality in Mozambique, Nampula, and Gaza, respectively). Third, we compare dedicated biomass-fired power generation (BtP² or TtP) and cofiring biomass with coal in a coal-biomass to power (CBtP or CTtP) plants. Lastly, the study compares the competitiveness of supplying different markets (close to biomass production sites in southern Africa or in major international bioenergy markets in the Netherlands). This comparison is performed for both the short term (current) and long term (2030). Costs are given in US\$₂₀₁₀.

In this case study, biomass feedstock (eucalyptus and switchgrass) is produced in Mozambique, and undergoes preprocessing before shipment to Europe for power production. A comparison is also made for the local conversion of biomass in Mozambique. Key assumptions include interest rates of 8% (international), 13% for Mozambique (Trading Economics, 2014) and exchange rate of 1.30 US\$/ \in , 30 Mozambican Meticais/US\$. Further assumptions and input data are available in Batidzirai et al. (2014).

Figs. 5.2 and 5.3 show the economic performance of different supply chains considered in this case study, for the short and long term, respectively.

It is apparent that feedstock, truck transport, and conversion costs are dominant and together constitute up to 90% of final, delivered electricity costs. Conversion is the most important cost element and represents up to 56% of overall power supply costs. Preprocessing costs are also important, contributing up to 20% to the final electricity costs. Also, lower-cost electricity is produced from chains based on the more productive Nampula region ($\$81-107 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$) compared to Gaza ($\$85-107 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$). It is also clear that electricity from supply chains based on switchgrass is produced at lower cost than from eucalyptus for both the short term and long term. This is mainly attributed to the lower production costs of switchgrass. In the short term, biomass from switchgrass (both CPs and TOPs) is delivered at $\$5.1-7.3 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$ compared to biomass from eucalyptus ($\$5.4-7.5 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$).

²Final conversion is denoted by XtP, where P is power, X is either coal (C), biomass/pellets (B), TOPs (T) or combinations such as CB for cofiring.



Figure 5.2 Comparison of short-term biomass-based electricity production costs against current average national electricity production costs in South Africa and Netherlands.



Figure 5.3 Comparison of long-term biomass-based electricity production costs against projected national electricity production costs in the Netherlands and electricity tariffs in South Africa.

In the long term, switchgrass is delivered at \$4.3–5.8 GJ⁻¹, while eucalyptus is delivered at \$4.8–5.8 GJ⁻¹. Due to the low bulk density of switchgrass bales (100–140 kg m⁻³), truck transportation from the field costs for switchgrass are much higher ($$1.7-2.0 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$) than for eucalyptus (\$1.1-1.4 GJ⁻¹), as logs have a bulk density of around 460 kg m⁻³. In addition, switchgrass incurs high storage costs at the farm, as it is more susceptible to moisture increases and dry matter losses if stored in the open.

Currently, torrefied pellets are delivered in Rotterdam at higher cost $($6.5-7.5 \text{ GJ}^{-1})$ than conventional pellets $($5.1-6.2 \text{ GJ}^{-1})$. In the long term, torrefied pellets are expected to decline in cost (\$4.7-5.8 GJ⁻¹) and converge with conventional pellets ($$4.3-5.3 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$). These differences are due to lower efficiency of torrefaction chains and the higher torrefaction production costs compared to CPs. Torrefaction is an additional costly step (at least \$2 GJ⁻¹ in the short term) compared to conventional pelletizing (about \$0.5 GJ⁻¹). However, due to improved logistics and lower conversion investment requirements, electricity production costs from TOPs are lower than from CPs, especially in the long term. Final power production costs are influenced by the properties of the feedstock as raw biomass conversion requires additional investment and results in decreased plant capacity and efficiency. These additional costs are lower for TOPs than for CPs as TOPs have characteristics that are closer to coal. However, the additional costs of torrefying biomass do not offset the benefits of lower conversion costs as conventional pellet-based chains deliver lower cost electricity (\$81-115 GJ^{-1}) than the TOPs (\$86–108 GJ^{-1}), albeit marginally.

It is also apparent from these scenarios that cofiring biomass with coal results in lower electricity production costs ($\$81.0-89.7 \text{ MWh}^{-1}$), compared to biomass-only fired power plants ($\$93.5-108.4 \text{ MWh}^{-1}$), since new capital investment for retrofitting cofired power plants is much lower than when establishing greenfield power plants. Cofiring scenarios (CXtP)—based on switchgrass from productive land—have the best economics for both the short and long term ($\$22.5 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$ or $\$81.0 \text{ MWh}^{-1}$). Although delivered biomass feedstock costs are much lower in Mozambique due to avoided international logistics, power production in Mozambique ($\$106-115 \text{ MWh}^{-1}$) is more costly than in Rotterdam ($\$81-108.4 \text{ MWh}^{-1}$). This is due to the relatively higher investment costs of smaller-scale plants (assumed for Mozambique) and higher interests rates (13%) compared to the Netherlands (8%). In addition, power production is not competitive in the Mozambican market, as these costs are much higher than the average levelized electricity generation costs for southern Africa ($\$32-54 \text{ MWh}^{-1}$) (IEA, 2010).

For comparison, the average electricity tariffs in southern Africa are about \$70 MWh⁻¹ (NERSA (http://www.nersa.org.za)).

For the Netherlands, power production costs ($\$81-108.4 \text{ MWh}^{-1}$) are competitive against the average power generation costs in the Netherlands ($\$55-91 \text{ MWh}^{-1}$) (IEA, 2010); and much lower compared to average electricity tariffs in Netherlands (estimated to be $\$198 \text{ MWh}^{-1}$) (Europe Energy Portal, 2013).

Long-term power production costs across all scenarios are estimated to be 6-21% lower at \$71-106 MWh⁻¹ than in the short term. This is attributed to technological learning and scaling up of facilities across the bioenergy value chain, especially in critical components of feedstock production, preprocessing, and conversion. Conversion into final products dominates overall costs representing 42-57% of power production costs across all scenarios. Although feedstock costs are important, they account for a much lower proportion of total costs (7-25% of overall costs). Regional cost differences across the scenarios are marginal but evident; long-term power production in Gaza scenarios range from \$76 MWh⁻¹ to \$106 MWh⁻¹, while in Nampula costs are \$70-99 MWh⁻¹. Power production in Mozambique (\$96-106 MWh⁻¹) is more costly than in Rotterdam (\$71-95 MWh⁻¹). As shown in Fig. 5.3, the lowest cost power pathway ($\$19.7 \text{ GI}^{-1}$ or \$71 MWh⁻¹) is associated with the cofiring switchgrass TOPs in Rotterdam. For the Netherlands, these future power production costs are competitive compared to future expected electricity generation costs (\$70-90 MWh⁻¹) (van den Broek et al., 2011). However, future electricity tariffs in southern Africa³ are expected to be much higher at \$120-173 MWh⁻¹ (DOE, 2011)—but these tariffs already include transmission, supply charges, and taxes.

5.3 LOCAL/REGIONAL TRADE AND SUPPLY OPPORTUNITIES OF RAW BIOMASS FOR BIOENERGY MARKET

Local and regional markets for biomass offer opportunities for developing the bioenergy sector in different parts of the world. Several countries

³We compare the power production costs in Mozambique with southern African tariffs (since power supplies in the region countries are intricately linked under the southern African power pool [SAPP]). Mozambique both exports and imports electricity from SAPP, its 2075 MW hydro plant supplies mainly South Africa while 850 MW are imported from South Africa to supply the southern region 136. In addition, future electricity prices are available for southern Africa based on South African projections and not for Mozambique.

have established small- to large-scale biomass-based power generation facilities, for example, Sweden, Germany, and the United Kingdom. Local and regional biomass markets are important especially for the utilization of biomass resources in regions without adequate infrastructure (large-scale preprocessing and logistical) for supplying large volumes of biomass to international markets. Forestry and agricultural residues are especially an important resource which can be sustainably harnessed and utilized locally with minimal preprocessing such as bundling and baling. Regional trade of such biomass feedstock allows small-scale biomass producers to add value to biomass and get additional income through diversification of their operations.

Several countries such as Denmark, the United Kingdom, Spain, Sweden, China, and India have developed large-scale crop residue to energy facilities (Peidong et al., 2009; Purohit, 2009; Urošević and Gvozdenac-Urošević, 2012). Key crop residues include corn stover, wheat straw, rice straw and husks, and bagasse (Chum et al., 2011; Perlack et al., 2005; Kline et al., 2008). Globally, the use of sugarcane bagasse for power and heat production is the most common and mature energy application of crop residues for those countries with large sugarcane industries (REN21, 2011). There is less experience in energy conversion for other crop residues, but interest is significant in using corn stover for advanced biofuels, especially in the United States (Tyndall et al., 2011; Chum et al., 2011; USDOE, 2012). In Europe, Denmark pioneered large-scale power generation using straw and has commercialized the technology since 1989 (Skøtt, 2011; Kretschmer et al., 2012).

According to IPCC biomass energy deployment scenarios (Chum et al., 2011), agricultural residues are likely to play an important role in future energy systems contributing between 15 and 70EJ to the longterm global energy supply. Agricultural residues represent an important energy resource for countries with a large agricultural production base (WBGU, 2009; Chum et al., 2011; Dornburg et al., 2010). Although there is a large untapped potential for agricultural residues globally, there is little experience in their application for large-scale power production. Also due to the diversity of agricultural residues and differences in their chemical and physical characteristics, their utilization requires modifications in value chain and at the final conversion plant. Thus their local and regional application could allow the resource to benefit from technological learning and eventual deployment into the international market. We discuss below a case study conducted for South Africa to establish the feasibility of mobilizing agricultural residues for large-scale energy applications.

5.3.1 Agricultural Residues-Based Supply Chains: South Africa Case Study

This case study assesses the feasibility of mobilizing corn and wheat residues for large-scale power production in South Africa by establishing sustainable residue removal rates at the farm level and electricity production costs based on different biomass production regions at Camden (1600 MWe out), a depreciated power plant in Mpumalanga province. A key outcome of this case study was to estimate the national crop residue harvesting potential for bioenergy use, while maintaining soil productivity and avoiding displacement of competing residue uses. At every stage of the agricultural residues value chain, the study identified measures that would improve the performance of the overall crop residue supply chain and enhance the competitiveness of biomass- compared to fossil-based power generation. This included a comparison of applying different preprocessing technologies such as pelleting and torrefaction.

Currently, the sustainable bioenergy potential from corn and wheat residues is estimated to be about 6 million t (104 PJ), out of an annual gross crop residue potential of about 14.4 million t. This sustainable potential included 5.1 million t of corn stover and 600,000 t of wheat straw. About 4.2 million t of corn stover would be required for soil erosion control while 9.3 million t would be required for soil organic carbon (SOC) maintenance. Also, about 260,000 t of corn stover are required to meet cattle feed demand. Similarly, 870,000 t and 100,000 t of wheat straw are required to maintain SOC and prevent erosion, respectively. About 70,000 t of wheat straw are utilized as livestock bedding.

There is potential to increase the amount of crop residues to 238 PJ through measures such as no till cultivation and adopting better cropping systems. These estimates were based on minimum residue requirements of $2 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ for soil erosion control and additional residue amounts to maintain 2% SOC level.

5.3.1.1 Corn and Wheat Residue Costs at the Farm Gate

Overall the cost of collecting, baling, and storing corn stover at the farm is estimated to be about \$1.5 GJ⁻¹. Compensation for the farmers for lost nutrients dominates the cost of corn stover at the farm accounting for 58% of total costs (or 0.87 GJ^{-1}). Baling is also a very important cost element representing 29% of the total costs. A 10% farmer profit margin on direct costs is allowed in the estimated direct costs and this also represents about 4% of the total costs. Wheat straw at a typical dryland farm costs about \$1.5 GJ⁻¹ assuming a yield of 2t ha⁻¹. Baling dominates the overall wheat straw costs at 43% (or \$0.66 GJ⁻¹) and farmer nutrient compensation accounts for 41%.

Overall, about 7% of crop residues (6.8 PJ) are available at costs below 1 GJ^{-1} at the farm gate while 34% of the residues are available at costs below 1.2 GJ^{-1} . About 96% of the residues are available at cost below 1.5 GJ^{-1} .

5.3.1.2 Crop Residue Costs Delivered at the Conversion Plant

Fig. 5.4 shows the combined cost supply curve for the corn and wheat residues at the factory gate delivered to the conversion plant for the various scenarios considered in the case study. These costs include crop residue harvesting, collection, baling, and storage at the farm, transport to a local distribution point as well as long distance transport by truck to the conversion plant. We included a base case scenario where bales are transported by truck from the farms to the conversion plant and improved scenarios where further preprocessing is undertaken close to the farms and rail transport is used for long-distance transport to the power plant.

On average, crop residues in South Africa are delivered at the power plant at a cost of about 7.1 GJ^{-1} —this is a weighted average cost for



Figure 5.4 Cost–supply curve for corn and wheat residues delivered to the conversion plant in central South Africa. The dashed vertical lines indicate available crop residues below \$5 GJ⁻¹ delivery costs.

biomass from all regions. About 11% of the biomass is delivered at the conversion plant at less than \$3 GJ⁻¹, whereas about 36% can be delivered at less than \$5 GJ⁻¹. About 82% is delivered at less than \$10 GJ⁻¹ and only 5% of the biomass is delivered above \$15 GJ⁻¹.

At current conditions, the supply chain that delivers conventional pellets has the lowest cost biomass ($$4.1 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$) followed by TOPs ($$5.7 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$). As TOPs processing costs decline in the future, average delivered costs of TOPs are also expected to decrease to $$4.7 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$. The base case (with raw biomass bales) shows the highest delivered cost of $$6.9 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$ compared to the improved case supply chain ($$6.6 \text{ GJ}^{-1}$). This is because train transport becomes more efficient with larger volumes of biomass (and longer distances traveled) associated with the improved case (raw bales).

Despite the additional preprocessing costs of biomass ($\$13.3 t^{-1}$ for CPs and $\$52.4 t^{-1}$ for TOPs), the pellet chain and TOPs chain deliver lower-cost biomass to the conversion plant as shown in Fig. 5.4. About 24% and 14% of pellets and raw bales, respectively, cost below $\$3 GJ^{-1}$ at the factory gate. For TOPs, 12% is delivered at costs below $\$3 GJ^{-1}$. About 87% of CPs and TOPs are delivered at $\$5 GJ^{-1}$, compared to 42% of raw bales. About 92% of conventional pellet-based biomass is delivered at the factory gate at costs below $\$6 GJ^{-1}$, while corresponding values for TOPs and raw bales are 89% and 60%, respectively. Nearly all CP- and TOP-based biomass (99%) is delivered below $\$10 GJ^{-1}$.

In absolute terms, only 42 PJ is delivered in the base case scenario below \$5 GJ⁻¹ compared to 96 PJ (for raw biomass-improved scenario), 190 PJ (CPs) and 168 PJ (TOPs). Therefore, considering cofiring 30% biomass at Camden (1600 MWe out) requires 36 PJ biomass feedstock—at current conditions, there is adequate biomass below \$5 GJ⁻¹ to meet this demand. For this particular power plant, supplies can therefore be built up over time with changing demand and improvements in supply.

5.4 CONCLUSIONS

Global bioenergy markets have been growing and key bioenergy feedstocks such as wood pellets are becoming global commodities that are traded on the international markets. The EU is likely to remain the center for bioenergy markets, key importer and driver of solid biomass trade especially for the power and heat applications, given the projected growth in biopower and challenges to meet demand with local biomass production in the region. North America, eastern Europe, and Russia are already supplying woody biomass to the EU, and in the future, Brazil and coastal Africa are likely to be the major suppliers of biomass feedstock as well. Local markets in these producing regions will also become important as bioenergy technologies mature.

Trade will remain an important enabler for developing the bioenergy sector by facilitating the production and supply across regions. Optimized logistics based on an efficient transport system and preprocessed biomass feedstock are key to the delivery of competitive biomass. From the results of the case studies, in the short term, conventional pellets are still expected to play an important role as the internationally traded solid biomass commodity and can also in the longer term be cost-effectively used as a feedstock in biopower production. In the near future, torrefied pellets may become the dominant and preferred internationally traded solid biomass commodity as the technology is commercialized. This should result in improvements in bioenergy supply chains both in terms of costs and greenhouse gas impacts. Therefore, in the short term, it would be more cost-effective to ship densified solid biomass from different regions of the world where low-cost biomass is available to the major bioenergy markets for final large-scale conversion, given the advantages of economies of scale offered by these markets and risks of market immaturity for developing large-scale power production from biomass in the major biomass-producing regions. Local markets are expected to develop also, and provide localized opportunities for local biomass producers and conversion plants. Utilization of agricultural residues for power production is a promising option, but its application in cofiring configuration is yet to be proven on a wide commercial scale. More investigations are required to establish the technical feasibility and economics of large-scale mobilization of agricultural residues for such bioenergy applications.

Given the distribution of biomass production regions and markets as well as the nature of raw biomass, preprocessing biomass plays an important role in improving biomass supply chain economics. Logistics and transport are key cost components in the biomass value chain and major investments in infrastructure and capacity are required to realize large-scale biomass supplies. Establishing this infrastructure is gradual and takes time, which also applies to the mobilization of large volumes of biomass. These two aspects are interrelated and region-specific due to the unique settings for biomass feedstock production and local infrastructure. Given this context, there is a need for examining the entire biomass supply value chain so as to understand the many elements involved in bioenergy mobilization.

REFERENCES

- Agar, D., Wihersaari, M., 2012. Bio-coal, torrefied lignocellulosic resources. Key properties for its use in co-firing with fossil coal-Their status. Biomass Bioenerg 44, 107–111.
- Artec Biotechnologie GmbH, 2015. Available at: http://www.artec-biotechnologie.com/, Last visited: 11.06.2015.
- AVA-CO2 Forschung GmbH, 2015. Available at: http://www.ava-co2.com/web/pages/ de/downloads.php, Last visited: 11.06.2015.
- Bagramov, G., 2010. Economy of Converting Wood to Biocoal. Lappeenranta University of Technology, Lappeenranta, Finland113., MSc Thesis.
- Batidzirai, B., Mignot, A.P.R., Schakel, W., Junginger, M., Faaij, A.P.C., 2013. Biomass torrefaction technology—status and future prospects. Energy 62, 196–214.
- Batidzirai, B., van der Hilst, F., Meerman, J.C., Junginger, M., Faaij, A.P.C., 2014. Optimisation of biomass supply chains with torrefaction technology. Biofuel. Bioprod. Bior. 8, 253–282. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bbb.1458.
- Beekes, M., Cremers, M., September 2012. Realising a co-firing dream. Power Eng. Int. 20 (8), 64–70.
- Ben, H., Ragauskas, A.J., 2012. Torrefaction of Loblolly pine. Green Chem 14, 72–76. (2012).
- Bergman, P.C.A., 2005. Combined torrefaction and pelletisation: the TOP process. ECN-C--05-073.
- Boyd, T., de Vries, D., Kempthorne, H., Wearing, J., Wolff, I., 2011. Mass & Energy Balance for Torrefied Pellet Production. UBC Biomass Pelletization Workshop, May 18, 2011.
- Chum, H., Faaij, A., Moreira, J., Berndes, G., Dhamija, P., Dong, H., et al., 2011. Bioenergy (Chapter 2). In: Edenhofer, O., Pichs-Madruga, R., Sokona, Y., Seyboth, K., Matschoss, P. (Eds.), IPCC Special Report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation Cambridge Cambridge University Press, UK and New York, USA, pp. 209–332.
- Clemens, A., Klemm, M., Backes, M., 2012. Hydrothermal carbonisation of organic waste. 4th International Conference on Engineering for Waste and Biomass Valorisation, Porto 10.–13. September 2012.
- Cocchi, M., Nikolaisen, L., Junginger, H.M., Goh, C.S., Heinimö, J., Bradley, D., et al., 2012. Global Wood Pellet Industry Market and Trade Study. Accessed on 03/04/2015. Available at: http://www.bioenergytrade.org/downloads/t40-global-wood-pelletmarket-study_final_R.pdf.
- Crocker, M., Andrews, R., 2010. The rationale for biofuels. In: Crocker, M. (Ed.), Thermochemical Conversion of Biomass to Liquid Fuels and Chemicals The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, UK, pp. 1–25.
- CS carbonSolutions Deutschland GmbH, 2015. Available at: http://www.cs-carbonsolutions. de/, Last visited: 11.06.2015.
- DBFZ. 2013. Internal analytic report.
- Deng, J., Wang, G.-J., Kuang, J.-H., Zhang, Y.-L., Luo, Y.-H., 2009. Pretreatment of agricultural residues for co-gasification via torrefaction. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrol. 86 (2), 331–337.
- Dinjus, E., Kruse, A., Tröger, N., 2011. Hydrothermale Karbonisierung: 1. Einfluss des Lignins in Lignucellulosen. Chemie Ingenieur Technik 10 (2011).
- DOE—Department of Energy (South Africa), 2011. Integrated Resource Plan for Electricity 2010-2030. Revision 2. Final Report (25 March 2011).
- Dornburg, V., Faaij, A., Verweij, P., Langeveld, H., van de Ven, G., Meeusen, M., et al., 2010. Bioenergy revisited: key factors in global potentials of bioenergy. Energ Environ Sci 3, 258–267. 2010.
- EC (European Commission), 2014a. Impact Assessment. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and

Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. A policy framework for climate and energy in the period 2020 up to 2030. SWD(2014)15, Brussels, 22.1.2014. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52 014SC0015&from=EN.

- EC (European Commission), 2014b. State of play on the sustainability of solid and gaseous biomass used for electricity, heating and cooling in the EU. SWD(2014) 259 final. Brussels, 28.7.2014.
- Escala, M., Zumbühl, T., Koller, Ch, Junge, R., Krebs, R., 2013. Hydrothermal carbonization as an energy-efficient alternative to established drying technologies for sewage sludge: a feasibility study on a laboratory scale. Energy & Fuels 27 (1), 454–460.
- EverGreen Renewable, LLC, August 2009. Biomass Torrefaction as a Preprocessing Step for Thermal Conversion—Reducing Costs in the Biomass Supply Chain.
- Europe's Energy Portal, 2013. Fuel Prices, Rates for Power & Natural Gas. Available at: www.energy.eu/. Accessed 06//20/ 2013.
- Faaij, A., Domac, J., 2006. Emerging international bio-energy markets and opportunities for socio-economic development. Energy for Sustainable Development 10, 7–19.
- Faaij, A., Junginger, M., Goh, C.S., 2014. Chapter 1: A General Introduction to International Bioenergy Trade. In: Junginger, M., Goh, C.S., Faaij, A. (Eds.), International Bioenergy Trade, Springer.
- Funke, A., and Ziegler, F. 2010. Hydrothermal carbonization of biomass: a summary and discussion of chemical mechanisms for process engineering—Biofuels, Bioprod, Bioref 4:160–177.
- Goh, C.S., Cocchi, M., Junginger, M., Marchal, D., Daniela, T., Hennig, C., et al., 2012. Wood pellet market and trade: a global perspective. Biofuel, Bioprod. Bioref 7 (1), 24–42.
- Gunarathne, D.S., Mueller, A., Fleck, S., Kolb, T., Chmielewski, J.K., Yang, W., et al., 2014. Gasification characteristics of hydrothermal carbonized biomass in an Up-draft Pilot-Scale Gasifier. Energy Fuels 28 (3), 1992–2002. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ef402342e.
- Hamelinck, C.N., Suurs, R.A.A., Faaij, A.P.C., 2005. International bioenergy transport costs and energy balance. Biomass Bioenerg 29 (2), 114–134.
- Hitzl, M., Corma, A., Pomares, F., Renz, M., 2014. The Hydrothermal Carbonization (HTC) plant as a decentral biorefinery for wet biomass. Catalysis Today 11/2014. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2014.09.024.
- IEA, 2010. Projected Costs of Generating Electricity—2010 Edition. International Energy Agency/Nuclear Energy Agency/Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development. Paris. pp. 218(2010).
- IRENA, 2012. Financial Mechanisms and Investment Frameworks for Renewables in Developing Countries, December 2012. Available at: http://irena.org/Finance_RE_ Developing_Countries.pdf. Last viewed 20/06/2014.
- Junginger, M., Faaij, A., van den Broek, R., Koopmans, A., Hulscher, W., 2001. Fuel supply strategies for large-scale bio-energy projects in developing countries. Electricity generation from agricultural and forest residues in Northeastern Thailand. Biomass Bioenergy 21 (4), 259–275.
- Kiel, J., Zwart, R., and Verhoeff, F. 2012. Torrefaction by ECN. Presentation to the SECTOR/IEA Bioenergy Torrefaction Workshop, 20th European Biomass Conference and Exhibition, June 21, 2012, Milan, Italy.
- Kietzmann, F., Klemm, M., Blümel, R., Clemens, A., 2013. Demonstrationsanlage für HTC-Kohle in Halle—abfallwirtschaftliche Ziele und technische Umsetzung. In: Wiemer, K., Kern, M., Raussen, T. (Eds.), Bio- und Sekundärrohstoffverwertung VIII stofflich—energetisch. Neues aus Forschung und Praxis Witzenhausen-Institut, Witzenhausen, pp. 337–347.

- Klemm, M., Clemens, A., Kietzmann, F., Blümel, R., Nelles, M., 2015. Hydrothermale Verfahren—sinnvolle Ergänzung oder Irrweg? 14. Münsteraner Abfallwirtschaftstage Münsteraner Schriften zur Abfallwirtschaft Bd, pp 16.
- Kline, K.L., Oladosu, G.A., Wolfe, A.K., Perlack, R.D., Dale, V.H., McMahon, M., 2008. Biofuel Feedstock Assessment for Selected Countries. ORNL/TM-2007/224, Oak Ridge National Laboratory/Appalachian State University/US Department of Energy, pp 135 + Appendices.
- Kretschmer, B., Allen, B., Hart, K., 2012. Mobilising Cereal Straw in the EU to Feed Advanced Biofuel Production. May 2012, Report produced for Novozymes. IEEP, London.
- Lamers, P., Junginger, H.M., Hamelinck, C., Faaij, A., 2012. Developments in international solid biofuel trade—an analysis of volumes, policies, and market factors. Renew Sust Energ Rev 16 (5), 3176–3199.
- Lamers, P., Marchal, D., Heinimö, J., Steierer, F., 2014. Chapter 3: Global Woody Biomass Trade for Energy. In: Junginger, J., Goh, C.S., Faaij, A. (Eds.), International Bioenergy Trade, Springer.
- Lamers, P., Hoefnagels, R., Junginger, M., Hamelinck, C., Faaij, A., 2015. Global solid biomass trade for energy by 2020: an assessment of potential import streams and supply costs to North-West Europe under different sustainability constraints. GCB Bioenergy 7 (4), 618–634.
- Li, J., Brzdekiewicz, A., Yang, W., Blasiak, W., 2012. Co-firing based on biomass torrefaction in a pulverized coal boiler with aim of 100% fuel switching. Appl Energy 99, 344–354.
- Libra, J.A., Kern, J., and Emmerich, K.H., 2011. Hydrothermal carbonization of biomass residuals: a comparative review of the chemistry, processes an application of wet and dry pyrolysis—Biofuels, pp. 89–124.
- Luo, X., 2011. Torrefaction of biomass—a comparative and kinetic study of thermal decomposition for Norway spruce stump, poplar and fuel tree chips. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, MSc Thesis.
- Matzenberger, J., Kranzl, L., Tromborg, E., Junginger, M., Daioglou, V., Sheng Goh, C., et al., 2015. Future perspectives of international bioenergy trade (Review). Renew Sust Energ Rev 43, 926–941.
- Meerman, J.C., Ramírez, A., Turkenburg, W.C., Faaij, A.P.C., 2012. Performance of simulated flexible integrated gasification polygeneration facilities, Part B: economic evaluation. Renew Sust Energ Rev 16 (8), 6083–6102.
- Melin, S., 2011. Torrefied Wood—A New Emerging Energy Carrier. Presentation to Clean Coal Power Coalition CCPC March 9, 2011.
- Miao, Z., Shastri, Y., Grift, T.E., Hansen, A.C., Ting, K.C., 2012. Lignocellulosic biomass feedstock transportation alternatives, logistics, equipment configurations, and modelling. Biofuel Bioprod Bioref 6, 351–362.
- OECD/IEA, 2010. IEA Energy Technology perspectives 2010. International Energy Agency, Paris. 458.
- OECD/IEA, 2011. World Energy Outlook 2011. IEA, Paris. 666.
- Peidong, Z., Yanli, Y., Yongsheng, T., Xutong, Y., Yongkai, Z., Yonghong, Z., et al., 2009. Bioenergy industries development in China: dilemma and solution. Renew Sust Energ Rev 13, 2571–2579.
- Perlack, R.D., Wright, L.L., Turnhollow, A.F., Graham, R.L., Stokes, B.J., Erbach, D.C., 2005. Biomass as Feedstock for a Bioenergy and Bioproducts Industry: The Technical Feasibility of a Billion-Ton Annual Supply. DOE/GO-102995-2135, ORNL/ TM-2005/66. US Department of Energy/US Department of Agriculture/Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, pp 47 + Appendices.
- Phanphanich, M., Mani, S., 2011. Impact of torrefaction on the grindability and fuel characteristics of forest biomass. Bioresource Technol 102 (2), 1246–1253.

- Purohit, P., 2009. Economic potential of biomass gasification projects under clean development mechanism in India. J Cleaner Prod 17, 181–193.
- Ramke, H.-G., Blöhse, D., Lehmann, H.-J., Antonietti, M., Fettig, J., 2010. Machbarkeitsstudie zur Energiegewinnung aus organischen Siedlungsabfällen durch Hydrothermale Carbonisierung. Final report for Deutsche Bundesstiftung Umwelt, Höxter.
- REN21, 2011. Renewables 2011 Global Status Report. Paris: REN21 Secretariat.
- Rentizelas, A., Tolis, A., Tatsiopoulos, I.P., 2009. Logistics issues of biomass: the storage problem and the multi-biomass supply chain. Renew Sust Energ Rev 13 (4), 887–894.
- Schipfer, F., Bienert, K., Kranzl, L., Majer, S., Nebel, E., 2015. Deployment scenarios and socio-economic assessment of torrefied biomass chains. Part 2: Results. Deliverable, SECTOR project. Available at: https://sector-project.eu/fileadmin/downloads/deliverables/SECTOR_D9.5_final.pdf. Last viewed 14/05/2014.
- Sevilla, M., 2009. The production of carbon materials by hydrothermal carbonization of cellulose, A.B. Fuertes Carbon, pp. 2281–2289.
- Sikkema, R., Steiner, M., Junginger, M., Hiegl, W., Hansen, M.T., Faaij, A.P.C., 2011. The European wood pellet markets: current status and prospects for 2020. Biofuel Bioprod Bior 5 (3), 250–278.
- Skøtt, T., 2011. Straw to Energy—Status, Technologies and Innovation in Denmark 2011. August 2011. Accessed on 03/04/2015. Available at: http://inbiom.dk/Files//Files/ Publikationer/halmpjeceuk_2011_web.pdf.
- Smeets, E.M.W., Faaij, A.P.C., Lewandowski, I.M., Turkenburg, W.C., 2007. A bottom up quickscan and review of global bio-energy potentials to 2050. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science 2007 (33), 56–106.
- Statistisches Bundesamt, 2013. Abfallbilanz, Available at: https://www.destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/Gesamtwirtschaft Umwelt/Umwelt/UmweltstatistischeErhebungen/Abfallwirtschaft/Tabellen/Abfallbilanz2010.pdf?_blob=publicationFile>. Last visited: 05.24.2013.
- SunCoal Industries GmbH, 2015. Available at: http://www.suncoal.de/, Last visited: 11.06.2015.
- Tarcon, R., 2011. Canadian perspective on biomass production and distribution. IEA Cofiring Workshop, January 25–26, 2011, Drax Power Station, UK. Accessed on 15/03/2013. Available at: http://www.iea-coal.org.uk/publishor/system/component_ view.asp?LogDocId=82487&PhyDocId=7694.
- Tapasvi, D., Khalil, R., Skreiberg, Ø., Tran, K., Grønli, M., 2012. Torrefaction of Norwegian birch and spruce: an experimental study using Macro-TGA. Energ Fuels 26, 5232–5240.
- TerraNova Energy GmbH, 2015. Available at: http://www.terranova-energy.com/index. php, Last visited: 11.06.2015.
- Trading Economics, 2014. Average interest rates for Mozambique. Accessed on 12/03/2014. Available at: http://www.tradingeconomics.com/mozambique/interest-rate.
- Tremel, A., Stemann, J., Herrmann, M., Erlach, B., Spliethoff, H., 2012. Entrained flow gasification of bio-coal from hydrothermal carbonization. Fuel 102, 396–403.
- Tumuluru, J.S., Hess, J.R., Boardman, R.D., Wright, C.T., Westover, T.L., 2012. Formulation, pretreatment, and densification options to improve biomass specifications for co-firing high percentages with coal. Industrial Biotechnology 8 (3), 113–132.
- Tustin, J., 2012. IEA Bioenergy Annual Report 2011IEA Bioenergy:ExCo:2012:01. Available at: http://www.ieabcc.nl/publications/IEA%20Bioenergy%202011%20 Annual%20Report.pdf. Accessed on 12/03/2014.
- Tyndall, J.C., Berg, E.J., Colletti, J.P., 2011. Corn stover as a biofuel feedstock in Iowa's bioeconomy: an Iowa farmer survey. Biomass Bioenerg 35, 1485–1495.
- Urošević, D.M., Gvozdenac-Urošević, B.D., 2012. Comprehensive analysis of a straw-fired power plant in the province of Vojvodina. Thermal Science 16 (1), S97–S106.

- USDOE, 2012. Biomass: Multi-Year Program Plan. US Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy. Available at: http://www1.eere.energy.gov/biomass/key_publications.html#PLANS_ROADMAPS_AND_REPORTS. Last visited: 12.03.2014.
- Uslu, A., Faaij, A.P.C., Bergman, P.C.A., 2008. Pre-treatment technologies, and their effect on international bioenergy supply chain logistics. Techno-economic evaluation of torrefaction, fast pyrolysis and pelletisation. Energy 33 (8), 11206–11223.
- van den Broek, M., Veenendaal, P., Koutstaal, P., Turkenburg, W., Faaij, A.P.C., 2011. Impact of international climate policies on CO2 capture and storage deployment. Illustrated in the Dutch energy system. Energ Policy 39, 2000–2019.
- Verhoest, C., and Ryckmans, Y., 2014. Industrial Wood pellets Report. Pellecert Project. Intelligent Energy Europe. Accessed on 24/03/2013. Available at: http://www.enpluspellets.eu/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/Industrial-pellets-report_PellCert_2012_ secured.pdf
- WBGU (German Advisory Council on Global Change), 2009. World in Transition— Future Bioenergy and Sustainable Land Use. Earthscan, London.
- Wilèn, C., PerttuJ., Järvinen T., Sipilä K., Verhoeff F., Kiel J., 2013. Wood torrefaction pilot tests and utilisation prospects. VTT Technology 122. pp. 73, Espoo (ISBN 978-951-38-8046-0).